CASE NO. 69801 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOHN DOE, on his own behalf and on behalf of a class pratical 2:19 p.m. situated.

Electronically Filed Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK, AND THE HONORABLE ROB BARE,

Appellees,

STATE OF NEVADA ex rel. THE LEGISLATURE OF THE 77th SESSION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA; STATE OF NEVADA **DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES; THE HONORABLE BRIAN SANDOVAL**, in his official capacity as Governor of the State of Nevada,

Real Parties In Interest.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ISSUES PRESENTED
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE PERTINENT FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES SUBMITTED FOR REVIEW
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT7
STANDARD OF REVIEW9
ARGUMENT11
A. The Registry Violates Nevadan's Fifth Amendment Privilege Against Self-Incrimination
1. Background on the Fifth Amendment Privilege Against Self- Incrimination11
2. The Registry Violates the Fifth Amendment
B. Nevadans have a Fundamental Right to Access the Health Care which their Physicians, in their Professional Capacity, Recommend.
1. Rights Created Through the 14th Amendment26
2. The "Right" In this Case – The Right to Access Health Care .32
C. Since Nevadans have such a Fundamental Right, the Registry Violates that Right under the Equal Protection Clause of the 14 th Amendment?

1.	The Right to Access Health Care and the Equal Protection Clause37
2.	Level of Scrutiny: Strict Scrutiny or Rational Basis?45
D.	The District Court Erred in not Providing Injunctive Relief59
Е.	The District Court Erred in Dismissing Appellant's State Law Tort Claims
F.	The District Court Erred in not Allowing Appellant to Amend his Complaint to Name the Proper Parties for purposes of §1983 Declaratory and Injunctive Relief
CONCL	USION64
CERTIE	SICATE OF COMPLIANCE 66

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

<u>Albertson v. SACB</u> , 382 U.S. 70, 86 S.Ct. 194, 15 L.Ed.2d 165 (1965),12, 13, 14, 17
<u>Allen v. Illinois</u> , 478 U.S. 364, 368, 106 S.Ct. 2988, 92 L.Ed.2d 296 (1986)
Bailey v. United States, 623 F.3d 855, 860 (9th Cir.2010)61
Balt. Dep't of Social Servs. v. Bouknight, 493 U.S. 549, 556, 110 S.Ct. 900, 107 L.Ed.2d 992 (1990)
<u>California v. Byers</u> , 402 U.S. 424, 427, 91 S.Ct. 1535, 29 L.Ed.2d 9 (1971)
<u>Carey v. Population Services International</u> , 431 U.S. 678, 97 S.Ct. 2010, 52 L.Ed.2d 675 (1977)
Chateau Vegas Wine, Inc. v. Southern Wine & Spirits of America, Inc., 265 P.3d 680, 685 (Nev., 2012)
<u>City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr.</u> , 473 U.S. 432, 105 S.Ct. 3249, 87 L.Ed.2d 313 (1986)
<u>Cruzan v. Director, MDH</u> , 497 U.S. 261, 278-279, 110 S.Ct., at 2851-2852 (1990)
<u>Dandridge v. Williams</u> , 397 U.S. 471, 90 S.Ct. 1153, 25 L.Ed.2d 491 (1970)
<u>Daniels v. Williams</u> , 474 U.S. 327, 106 S.Ct. 662, 88 L.Ed.2d 662 (1986) .25
<u>Dillingham v. INS</u> , 267 F.3d 996, 1007 (9th Cir.2001)49
<u>Duncan v. Louisiana</u> , 391 U.S. 145, 88 S.Ct. 1444, 20 L.Ed.2d 491 (1968) 26

Eisenstadt v. Baird, 405 U. S. 438 (1972)
Elrod v. Burns, 427 U.S. 347, 373, 96 S. Ct. 2673, 2689-690 (1976)59
<u>Ferguson v. Skrupa</u> , 372 U.S. 726, 83 S.Ct. 1028, 10 L.Ed.2d 93 (1963)31
<u>Franchise Tax Bd. of State v. Hyatt</u> , 335 P.3d 125, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 71 (Nev., 2014)
Gonzales v. Raich, 125 S. Ct. 2195, 162 L.Ed.2d 1, 545 U. S. 1 (2005)42
Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U. S. 479 (1965)
<u>Grosso v. United States</u> , 390 U.S. 62, 88 S.Ct. 709, 19 L.Ed.2d 906 (1968)
<u>Haynes v. United States</u> , 390 U.S. 85, 88 S.Ct. 722, 19 L.Ed.2d 923 (1968)
Heller v. Doe, 509 U.S. 312, 113 S.Ct. 2637, 125 L.Ed.2d 257 (1993)50
<u>Hurtado v. California</u> , 110 U.S. 516, 4 S.Ct. 111, 28 L.Ed. 232 (1884)26
<u>LaDuke v. Nelson</u> , 762 F.2d 1318, 1326 (9th Cir. 1985)
<u>Lawrence v. Texas</u> , 539 U. S. 558, 575 (2003)
<u>Leary v. United States</u> , 395 U.S. 6, 23 L.Ed.2d 57, 89 SCt. 1532 (1969) .14, 15, 19
<u>Lewis v. United States</u> , 348 U.S. 419, 421, 75 S.Ct. 415, 99 L.Ed. 475 (1955)
Loving v. Virginia, 388 U.S. 1, 87 S.Ct. 1817, 18 L.Ed.2d 1010 (1967)28, 30
<u>Marchetti v. United States</u> , 390 U.S. 39, 88 S.Ct. 697, 19 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968)
Mathews v. Lucas, 427 U.S. 495, 96 S. Ct. 2755 (1976)50
McGowan v. Maryland, 366 U.S. 420, 81 S.Ct. 1101, 6 L.Ed.2d 393 (1961)

McKay v. Bergstedt, 801 P.2d 617, 622 (Nev., 1990)34
Melendres v. Arpaio, 695 F.3d 990, 1002 (9th Cir. 2012)59
Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 43 S.Ct. 625, 67 L.Ed. 1042 (1923)30
Monterey Mech. Co. v. Wilson, 125 F.3d 702, 715 (9th Cir.1997)9
Mugler v. Kansas, 123 U.S. 623, 8 S.Ct. 273, 31 L.Ed. 205 (1887)25
<u>NAACP v. Patterson</u> , 357 U.S. 449, 461 (1958)47
New York City Transit Authority v. Beazer, 440 U.S. 568, 99 S.Ct. 1355, 59 L.Ed.2d 587 (1979)
New York Times Co.v. United States, 403 U.S. 713, 91 S.Ct. 2140, 29 L.Ed.2d 822 (1971)
Nordlinger v. Hahn, 505 U.S. 1, 112 S.Ct. 2326, 120 L.Ed.2d 1 (1992)49, 50
Obergefell v. Hodges, 576 US _, 135 S. Ct. 2071, 191 L. Ed. 2d 953 (2015) 27, 29, 30, 31
Ortega-Melendres v. Arpaio, 836 F. Supp. 2d 959, 979 (D. Ariz. 2011)59
Parents Involved in Community Schools v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1, 551 U.S. 701, 127 S.Ct. 2738, 168 L.Ed.2d 508 (2007)
<u>Personnel Administrator of Mass. v. Feeney</u> , 442 U.S. 256, 99 S.Ct. 2282, 60 L.Ed.2d 870 (1979)
<u>Pierce v. Society of Sisters</u> , 268 U.S. 510, 45 S.Ct. 571, 69 L.Ed. 1070 (1925)
Planned Parenthood of Southeastern Pennsylvania v. Casey, 505 U.S. 833, 112 S.Ct. 2791, 120 L.Ed.2d 674 (1992)
<u>Plyler v. Doe</u> , 457 U.S. 202, 102 S.Ct. 2382, 72 L.Ed.2d 786 (1982)37
Poe v. Ullman, 367 U.S. 497, 81 S.Ct. 1752 6 L.Ed.2d 989 (1961) 26, 29
Prince v. Massachusetts, 321 U.S. 158, 64 S.Ct. 438, 88 L.Ed. 645 (1944).34
APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - v

Raich v. Gonzales (Raich II), 500 F. 3d 850, 866 (9th Cir. 2007) 40, 41, 42, 44
Reno v. Flores, 507 U.S. 292, 113 S.Ct. 1439, 123 L.Ed.2d 1 (1993)45
Rochin v. California, 342 U.S. 165, 72 S.Ct. 205, 96 L.Ed. 183 (1952)30
<u>San Antonio Independent School Dist. v. Rodriguez</u> , 411 U.S. 1, 33, 93 S.Ct. 1278, 1296-1297, 36 L.Ed.2d 16 (1973)37
<u>Schloendorff v. Society of New York Hospital</u> , 211 N.Y. 125, 129-130, 105 N.E. 92, 93 (1914)
<u>Shapiro v. Thompson</u> , 394 U.S. 618, 89 S.Ct. 1322, 22 L.Ed.2d 600 (1969)
<u>Skinner v. Oklahoma ex rel. Williamson, 316 U.S. 535, 62 S.Ct. 1110, 86 L.Ed. 1655 (1942)</u>
<u>State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. v. Jafbros Inc.</u> , 109 Nev. 926, 928, 860 P.2d 176, 178 (1993)
<u>Texas v. Johnso</u> n, 491 U.S. 397, 109 S.Ct. 2533, 105 L.Ed.2d 342 (1989) .32
<u>Tigner v. Texas</u> , 310 U.S. 141, 60 S.Ct. 879, 84 L.Ed. 1124 (1940)37
Turner v. Safley, 482 U.S. 78, 107 S.Ct. 2254, 96 L.Ed.2d 64 (1987)28
<u>Union Pacific R. Co. v. Botsford</u> , 141 U.S. 250, 11 S.Ct. 1000, 35 L.Ed. 734 (1891)
<u>United States v. Rumely</u> , 345 U.S. 41, 56-58, 73 S. Ct. 543 (1953)47
<u>United States v. Sullivan</u> , 274 U.S. 259, 47 S.Ct. 607, 71 L.Ed. 1037 (1927)
<u>Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. v. Nevadans for Sound Gov't</u> , 120 Nev. 712, 721, 100 P.3d 179, 187 (2004)
<u>Washington v. Glucksberg</u> , 521 U.S. 702 (1997)
<u>West Virginia State Bd. of Education v. Barnette</u> , 319 U.S. 624, 63 S.Ct. 1178, 87 L.Ed. 1628 (1943);

Whitney v. California, 274 U.S. 357, 47 S.Ct. 641, 71 L.Ed. 1095 (1927)26
<u>Williamson v. Lee Optical of Oklahoma, Inc.</u> , 348 U.S. 483, 75 S.Ct. 461, 99 L.Ed. 563 (1955)
Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005)9
Zablocki v. Redhail, 434 U.S. 374, 98 S.Ct. 673, 54 L.Ed.2d 618 (1978)45
STATUTES
21 USC § 802(6)18
21 USC § 812(b)18
21 USC § 812(b)(1)18
21 USC § 812(c)
21 USC § 841(a)(1)19
21 USC § 844(a)19
42 USC §1983
42 USC §198862
Controlled Substances Act, 21 USC § 801-971
NRS § 41.03160
NRS § 454.20153
NRS § 630.02038
NRS § 630.020(1)38
NRS §239C.03020

NRS §33.0109
NRS §41.032(1)60
NRS §453A.1154
NRS §453A.2104
NRS §453A.220(4)5
NRS §453A.3585
NRS §453A.41020
NRS §453A.7404
NRS Chapter 453
NRS Chapter 453A
NRS Chapter 45453
NRS Chapter 63038
NRS Chapter 633
NRS Chapter 639
REGULATIONS
NAC §453A.1404

RULES

NRAP 3 A(b)(3)
NRCP 56(c)9
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, Pub.L. No. 91-513, 84 Stat. 1236
F. Rozovsky, Consent to Treatment, A Practical Guide 1-98 (2d ed. 1990) 35
Megan Messerly, "We Have A Prescription Pill Problem," <u>Las Vegas Sun,</u> Sept. 28, 2015
W. Keeton, D. Dobbs, R. Keeton, & D. Owen, <u>Prosser and Keeton on Law of Torts</u> § 32, pp. 189-192 (Fifth ed. 1984)35
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Equal Protection Clause of the 14 th Amendment passim
Nev. Const. Art. IV, Sec 38, (1)(d)
Nev. Const. Art. IV, Sec. 38
<u>U.S. Const.</u> Art. VI, cl. 2

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Nev.R.App.P. 3A(b)(1), as the order appealed granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents on all claims, and Nev.R.App.P. 3A(b)(3), as the order appealed also was a Motion for Preliminary Injunction.

The order being appealed was issued on or about February 4, 2016, by the Honorable Rob Bare of the Eighth Judicial District Court for the State of Nevada. Joint Appendix ("App") Vol. 3_459-497.

Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal on February 22, 2016. <u>App.</u>
Vol. 3 540-542.

A Case Appeal Statement was filed on February 22, 2016. App. Vol. 3 543-593.

NRAP 28(a)(5) ROUTING STATEMENT

ISSUES PRESENTED

This case raises various constitutional issues of first impression related to the Medical Marijuana Registry (the "Registry"), as set forth in NRS Chapter 453A, pursuant to Nevada Constitution, Art. IV, Section 38.

- 1. Does the Registry violate the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination by forcing patients who pursue physician recommended medical marijuana, as authorized by state law, to admit that they are violating federal law as a pre-requisite to participation in the Registry?
- 2. Do Nevadans, under the Due Process Clause of the 14th Amendment, have a fundamental right to access the health care which their physicians, in their professional capacity, recommend for them?
- 3. If Nevadans have such a fundamental right, does the Registry violate that right under the Equal Protection Clause of the 14th Amendment?
- 4. Did the district court err in not providing injunctive relief?
- 5. Did the district court err in dismissing Appellant's state law tort claims?
- 6. Did the district court err in not allowing Appellant to amend his complaint to name the Administrator of the Registry for Purposes of §1983 Declaratory and Injunctive Relief?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, on all counts, to Respondents, and denying injunctive relief, and granting Respondents final judgment. The order and judgment was issued by the Honorable Rob Bare, of the Eighth Judicial District Court.

STATEMENT OF THE PERTINENT FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES SUBMITTED FOR REVIEW

In 2001, the people of the Great State of Nevada amended its Constitution to allow the "use by a patient, upon the advice of his physician, of a plant of the genus Cannabis for the treatment or alleviation of" various medical condition for which, in the physician's opinion, the plant would have some medical benefit. Nev. Const. Art. IV, Sec. 38. In doing so, the Legislature created a new section of the Nevada Revised Statutes to create a mechanism for patients to be able to obtain and use medical marijuana without fear of <u>state</u>¹ criminal prosecution. <u>See</u> Nev. Rev. Stat. Chapter 453A. The Legislature distinguished "medical marijuana" from street marijuana by

The State cannot legislate away a crime set forth under federal law.

creating standards for testing, purity and labeling of marijuana. The State also created the Registry through which all persons wishing to use medical marijuana must be included. Nev. Const. Art. IV, Sec 38, (1)(d) ("The legislature shall provide by law for: ... A Registry of patients, and their attendants, who are authorized to use the plant for a medical purpose, to which law enforcement officers may resort to verify a claim of authorization and which is otherwise confidential."); NRS Chapter 453A.

In 2013, recognizing that the State failed to adequately provide for a safe and legal method for obtaining **medical** marijuana, save and except for either growing one's own² or purchasing non-medical marijuana from the local street corner drug dealer, the Legislature reformed Chapter 453A to expand access through the regulation and licensure of dispensaries. Under this reform, the Legislature created the concept of a "medical marijuana dispensary." See NRS §453A.210. Under law, only a person who has a valid registration card can do business with a dispensary. NRS §453A.115.

Recognizing that the Legislature corrected a major hole in the medical marijuana regulatory scheme – namely how a person who is unable or

Query how one can grow their own without obtaining seeds from a legal source, as none existed at the time.

incapable of growing medical marijuana can obtain such in a safe and legal manner – after the 2013 legislative session, numerous people applied to obtain a new registration card, or re-applied to renew their registration card; Appellant is one of those people.

In order to obtain the registration card, the patient must pay a fee to the State, NRS §453A.740 and NAC §453A.140, and must pay to obtain an examination by a physician who must acknowledge that the patient meets the clinical conditions for use of medical marijuana under the law.³ A registration card is only valid for one year. NRS §453A.220(4).

While the Program has been accepting the fees for the registration cards since 2001, and have been issuing cards, the Program has done so with the knowledge that up through the time of the filing of the Complaint there was no place within Southern Nevada for a patient to legally purchase seeds, plants or plant derivatives, as neither the State nor the related agencies had approved a dispensary for business.⁴ Accordingly, for approximately three years,

This is conducted through the private market and can cost as much as \$500.

Interestingly, within a week of the filing of the Complaint in this case, the State and other regulatory agencies started licensing dispensaries.

Appellant, and those similarly situated to him, repeatedly⁵ completed the application process, including seeking (and paying for) a physician evaluation and recommendation, and submitting forms in quadruplicate and paying various fees, only to receive a card that never provided him and others with access to legally regulated medical marijuana. The reality is, without access to a dispensary, the registration cards were worthless in facilitating Nevada patients to access medical marijuana - something that was known to Respondents; and, yet, the State still took money from Appellant (and others similarly situated), year after year, issuing, each time, cards with a one year duration, despite their failure to license a dispensary in Southern Nevada. Rather than extending the expiration date of a registration card for a period that would end one year from when the first dispensary was licensed, the Program continued to issue cards for only one year, knowing that their utility

As inclusion in the Registry is only good for one (1) year, participants are required to renew their registration each year.

The Legislature made sure to distinguish medical marijuana from all other forms of marijuana by creating arduous testing and labeling requirements so that patients can know, with certainty, the concentration of various components of the marijuana that they are receiving. See, e.g., NRS §453A.358.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

While this case was brought, in part, to compensate Nevada's patients who have been paying hundreds of dollars in state fees without receiving any benefits, the core of this case involves multiple challenges to the constitutionality of this Registry as a result of the State's interference in this health care option. Specifically, Appellant, a Nevadan who is a member of the Registry, challenges the constitutionality of the Registry under the Fifth Amendment as well as the 14th Amendment of the US Constitution.

Appellant claims that the Registry is a violation of Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination because the Registry requires patients who are following the medical recommendations of their physicians to first clear a hurdle set forth by the State – apply for the Registry. In doing so, the patient must submit an application to the State which includes an admission

Respondents argue that a Registry card is also beneficial in that it provides an affirmative defense for prosecution for possession of marijuana. This is a baseless argument, given the fact that the Nevada Constitution required that patients be allowed to access medical marijuana and one cannot purchase "medical marijuana" from any other sources, and one cannot grow "medical marijuana" from scratch.

that the applicant is growing and/or using medical marijuana – acts which are illegal under federal law. This is a compelled disclosure which is a violation of our Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination.

Appellant also raises concerns about the Registry's implication on the 14th Amendment. First, as a precursor to this challenge, Appellant asks this Court to find that Nevadans have a fundamental right to access the health care that their doctor recommends under the Due Process Clause.

It is important for this Court to recognize, from the outset of this case, that Respondents will try, vigorously, to re-cast this issue as a constitutional right to have medical marijuana; that is not Appellant's claim. Appellant sets forth compelling case law from the U.S. Supreme Court to demonstrate that Nevadans have a fundamental right to access the health care recommended to them by their licensed physicians. Just as courts have enumerated several fundamental rights which flow from the Due Process Clause of the 14th Amendment, this Court must recognize that access health

This is separate and distinct from a constitutional right to health care. A Constitutional right to health care would implicate a broad and wide sweeping obligation of the health care system to provide care, as a right, regardless of ability to pay or other system delivery pre-requisites. Access to health care, on the other hand, is simply that – access; the focus here is the elimination of government barriers to receiving health care, such as, in this case, having to obtain special permission from the government for a particular treatment (i.e., medical marijuana).

care that one's physician recommends for him is a fundamental right inherent in those health care related rights which have already been enumerated by the Courts. It is an inherent part of the privacy rights which the Supreme Court have already found to exist, such, the right to an abortion, right to withhold life-saving medical care, right to use contraceptives, and the right to consent to medical care. In light of that argument, the fee-based Registry is an improper interference with such right.

Because Appellate has set forth compelling arguments as to why the Registry is unconstitutional, this Court is also asked to find that the district court's denial of injunctive relief, dismissal of Appellant's state law claims, and dismissal of the §1983 declaratory and injunctive claims were also erroneous.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Summary judgment is appropriate and 'shall be rendered forthwith' when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005) (alteration in original) (quoting NRCP 56(c)). "[W]hen reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence, and any

reasonable inferences drawn from it, must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party." <u>Id</u>.

A district court order granting a preliminary injunction is an independently appealable determination. See NRAP 3A(b)(3). A preliminary injunction is available when it appears from the complaint that the moving party has a reasonable likelihood of success on the merits and the nonmoving party's conduct, if allowed to continue, will cause the moving party irreparable harm for which compensatory relief is inadequate. NRS §33.010; Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. v. Nevadans for Sound Gov't, 120 Nev. 712, 721, 100 P.3d 179, 187 (2004). As a constitutional violation may be difficult or impossible to remedy through money damages, such a violation may, by itself, be sufficient to constitute irreparable harm. See Monterey Mech. Co. v. Wilson, 125 F.3d 702, 715 (9th Cir.1997). Whether to grant or deny a preliminary injunction is within the district court's discretion. Nevadans for Sound Gov't, 120 Nev. at 721, 100 P.3d at 187. In the context of an appeal from a preliminary injunction, we review questions of law de novo and the district court's factual findings for clear error or a lack of substantial evidentiary support. Id.

ARGUMENT

- A. THE REGISTRY VIOLATES NEVADAN'S FIFTH AMENDMENT PRIVILEGE AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION.
 - 1. <u>Background on the Fifth Amendment Privilege Against Self-Incrimination</u>

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