#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOHN DOE, ON HIS OWN BEHALF AND ON BEHALF OF A CLASS OF THOSE SIMILARLY SITUATED,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jul 12 2016 02:42 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

STATE OF NEVADA EX REL. THE LEGISLATURE OF THE 77TH SESSION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA; THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES; AND THE HONORABLE BRIAN SANDOVAL, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS GOVERNOR OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

#### Supreme Court Case No. 69801

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, Case No. A-15-723045-C

Respondents.

#### **RESPONDENTS' JOINT ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The district court correctly granted summary judgment on Doe's federal constitutional claims for money damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (section 1983) and his federal constitutional claims for declaratory and injunctive relief under section 1983. With regard to his federal constitutional claims for money damages, because Doe does not challenge the district court's decision that the State and its agencies and officials acting in their official capacities are absolutely immune from liability for money damages under section 1983, the district court's decision should be affirmed.

With regard to Doe's federal constitutional claims for declaratory and injunctive relief, the district court correctly determined that Doe did not sue the proper state official who is charged by state law with administering and enforcing the registration program, namely, the Administrator of the Division of Public and Behavioral Health (Division). The district court also correctly denied leave to amend Doe's complaint to add the Administrator as the proper state official under section 1983 because such an amendment would be futile given that Doe's federal constitutional claims under the Self-Incrimination Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment fail on their merits as a matter of law.

Under well-established U.S. Supreme Court precedent, a person is not compelled to make a disclosure in violation of the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination when the government asks the person to disclose potentially incriminating information on an application which the person *voluntarily* files because the person wants to be considered for participation in a government program. Because the registration program is a voluntary program and nothing in the medical marijuana laws requires any person to submit an application or register with the State unless the person voluntarily elects to do so, the Fifth Amendment privilege simply does not apply to the program, and the State may ask a person who wants to participate in the program to disclose potentially incriminating information without violating the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination. Therefore, because a person is clearly under no compulsion to submit an application or register with the State, the person is not *compelled* to participate in the registration program, and the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination does not invalidate the program or the application for a registration card.

Furthermore, even if a person makes the voluntary choice to participate in the registration program and completes the application, the application does not require the person to make any incriminating admissions about past acts which might tend to show that the person had committed a crime. Although in submitting

6

the application and registering with the State, the person is required to provide the Division with certain personal, medical and background information, the person is not required to answer any official questions asking whether the person has grown, purchased, distributed or possessed marijuana. In the absence of such questions, the person is not compelled to give answers which might incriminate the person in future criminal proceedings because the person is not required to give answers about past acts which might tend to show that the person had committed a crime. Therefore, because a person who voluntarily files an application and registers with the State is not compelled to disclose potentially incriminating information, the district court correctly determined that Doe's Fifth Amendment claim has no merit as a matter of law, and the district court's judgment should be affirmed.

Doe contends that the Fourteenth Amendment creates a substantive and fundamental right to access health care recommended by a person's physician and that this case is not about a person's right to use medical marijuana but is about a much broader fundamental right to access *any and all* medical treatments recommended by a physician. However, under well-established U.S. Supreme Court precedent, Doe cannot use such a broad formulation to assert a fundamental right but must carefully formulate the asserted right based on the actual and specific interests at stake in the litigation. Therefore, despite Doe's attempt to use a broad formulation to assert a fundamental right to access *any and all* medical treatments recommended by a physician, the precise formulation of the asserted fundamental right—which is based on the actual and specific interests at stake in the litigation—is whether there is a fundamental right under the Fourteenth Amendment to use *medical marijuana* recommended by a physician.

When Doe's asserted fundamental right is properly narrowed as required by U.S. Supreme Court precedent, Doe's attempt to create a fundamental right fails as a matter of law because no court to date has held that a person has a fundamental right under the Fourteenth Amendment to use medical marijuana recommended by a physician because such a right is not deeply rooted in America's history, traditions and practices. Moreover, even outside the context of medical marijuana, courts historically have rejected claims that the Fourteenth Amendment creates a fundamental right to use a particular drug treatment recommended by a physician.

Thus, contrary to Doe's contentions, there is no fundamental right to access *any and all* health care recommended by a person's physician. Instead, our Nation's history, traditions and practices establish that the State has broad police powers to regulate drug treatments prescribed or recommended by a physician, so long as there is a rational basis for such regulation. Consequently, because there is no fundamental right under the Fourteenth Amendment for a person to use medical marijuana recommended by a physician, the district court correctly determined that

the registration program is constitutional under the rational-basis standard of review because the program is rationally related to legitimate state interests.

In the context of medical treatments, state legislatures may regulate different medical treatments differently without violating the Fourteenth Amendment because persons who use different medical treatments for the same medical condition are not similarly situated. In the case of medical marijuana, the Legislature could reasonably believe that, at this time, the potential evils associated with medical marijuana are of different dimensions and proportions and require different remedies in comparison to the potential evils associated with other Furthermore, the Legislature is permitted to implement its dangerous drugs. reforms one step at a time, addressing its legislation only to the potential evils associated with medical marijuana and applying different remedies to that phase of the problem without addressing the potential evils associated with other dangerous drugs. Such differential treatment is rational because logic and contemporary practice support the Legislature's judgment that the use of medical marijuana is different from the use of other dangerous drugs that comply with federal law. Therefore, because of this longstanding and rational distinction, the Legislature had a rational basis for treating the use of medical marijuana differently from the use of other dangerous drugs that comply with federal law. In addition, the Legislature could reasonably believe that the registration program would aid in the

enforcement of Nevada's medical marijuana laws, have a deterrent effect on potential violators and assist in the detection or investigation of specific instances of apparent abuse.

Given the State's legitimate and vital interests in controlling the use of medical marijuana and preventing its abuse, the registration program is the product of an orderly and rational legislative decision, and the program is rationally related to legitimate state interests. Therefore, the district court correctly determined that Doe's Fourteenth Amendment claims have no merit as a matter of law, and the district court's judgment should be affirmed.

Finally, the district court correctly determined that Doe's state-law tort claims for fraud and unjust enrichment are barred as a matter of law by sovereign immunity. Under NRS 41.032(1), the State and its agencies and officials acting in their official capacities are entitled to sovereign immunity based on any acts or omissions in their execution and administration of a statute or regulation "whether or not such statute or regulation is valid, if the statute or regulation has not been declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction." Thus, even if the State is executing an invalid statute or regulation, the State enjoys sovereign immunity under NRS 41.032(1) for any acts or omissions committed by the State *before* the statute or regulation is declared invalid. Therefore, because Doe's state-law tort claims are premised on alleged acts or omissions by the State in the execution and administration of the medical marijuana laws which have not been declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the district court correctly determined that Doe's state-law tort claims are barred as a matter of law by sovereign immunity under NRS 41.032(1), and the district court's judgment should be affirmed.

In addition, under NRS 41.032(2), which provides discretionary-function sovereign immunity, the State and its agencies and officials acting in their official capacities are entitled to sovereign immunity based on the performance of official duties which involve an element of official discretion or judgment and are grounded in the creation or execution of social, economic or political policy. When governmental actors are acting pursuant to their statutory authority in order to execute and carry out the social, economic and political policies enacted by the Legislature in statutes, the governmental actors are entitled to sovereign immunity under NRS 41.032(2) because they play an integral part in the furtherance of the policies which led to the enactment of the statutes.

In this case, Doe does not allege that the State and its agencies and officials were acting outside their statutory authority in executing and carrying out the social, economic and political policies enacted by the Legislature in the medical marijuana laws. Because the State and its agencies and officials were acting pursuant to their statutory authority, they were playing an integral part in the furtherance of the policies which led to the enactment of the medical marijuana

11

laws, and they are entitled to discretionary-function sovereign immunity under NRS 41.032(2). Therefore, Doe's state-law tort claims are barred as a matter of law by discretionary-function sovereign immunity under NRS 41.032(2), and the district court's judgment should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Standard of review.

Because Doe's claims raise only issues of law, the district court's decision granting summary judgment and denying declaratory and injunctive relief is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Nevadans for Nev. v. Beers*, 122 Nev. 930, 942 (2006). The question of whether a statute is constitutional is also subject to de novo review. *Id.* at 939. In conducting that review, all "[s]tatutes are presumed to be valid, and the challenger bears the burden of showing that a statute is unconstitutional. In order to meet that burden, the challenger must make a clear showing of invalidity." *Id.* 

# II. The district court correctly granted summary judgment on Doe's federal constitutional claims for money damages under section 1983.

The district court determined that the State is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Doe's federal constitutional claims for money damages under section 1983 because the State and its agencies and officials acting in their official capacities are absolutely immune from liability for money damages under section 1983. (*JA3:478-82.*) In his opening brief, Doe does not challenge the district court's determination regarding his federal constitutional claims for money damages. By failing to raise such a challenge, Doe waived this issue on appeal. *Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins.*, 127 Nev. 156, 161 n.3 (2011) ("Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived."). Therefore, in its answering brief, the State will not present any further arguments on this issue, and the Court should affirm the district court's decision granting summary judgment on Doe's federal constitutional claims for money damages.

# **III.** The district court correctly granted summary judgment on Doe's federal constitutional claims for declaratory and injunctive relief under section 1983.

The district court determined that the State is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Doe's federal constitutional claims for declaratory and injunctive relief under section 1983 because Doe did not sue the proper state official who is charged by state law with administering and enforcing the registration program, namely, the Administrator of the Division. (*JA3:483-87.*) The district court also denied Doe leave to amend his complaint to add the Administrator as the proper state official under section 1983. *Id.* The district court determined that allowing Doe to amend his complaint to add the Administrator would be futile because Doe's federal constitutional claims do not state a permissible or actionable claim on their merits as a matter of law. *Id.*  In his opening brief, Doe does not challenge the district court's determination that he failed to sue the proper state official who is charged by state law with administering and enforcing the registration program. By failing to raise such a challenge, Doe waived this issue on appeal. Instead, Doe contends that his federal constitutional claims are "meritorious claims" and that, as a result, he should be allowed to amend his complaint to add the proper state official for purposes of declaratory and injunctive relief under section 1983. (Opening Br. 62-63.) Because the district court correctly determined that Doe's federal constitutional claims do not state a permissible or actionable claim on their merits as a matter of law, the district court's judgment should be affirmed.

#### A. Doe's Fifth Amendment claim has no merit as a matter of law because the medical marijuana registration program does not violate the privilege against self-incrimination.

The district court determined that the registration program is a voluntary program and that nothing in Nevada's medical marijuana laws requires any person to request, complete or submit an application packet or register with the State, unless the person voluntarily elects to do so. (*JA3:491-93.*) Because Nevada's registration program is a voluntary program, the district court concluded that the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination simply does not apply to the registration program because a person is not "compelled" by the State to participate in the registration program. *Id.* In addition, the district court found that

even if a person makes the voluntary choice to participate in the registration program and completes the application packet, the application packet does not require the person to make any incriminating admissions about past acts which might tend to show that the person had committed a crime. *Id.* Because the district court correctly determined that Doe's Fifth Amendment claim has no merit as a matter of law, the district court's judgment should be affirmed.

Doe contends that persons who register with the State are compelled by state law to identify themselves to the government and admit that they intend to use medical marijuana and that by making such an admission, they are compelled to incriminate themselves in violation the privilege against self-incrimination because they are admitting that they intend to or are engaging in acts illegal under federal law. (Opening Br. 15-24.) To support his Fifth Amendment claim, Doe relies upon the wrong line of cases from the U.S. Supreme Court.

Under those inapt cases, the Supreme Court has held that, under certain circumstances, a defendant may invoke the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination *as a defense in a criminal prosecution* which is based on the defendant's failure to comply with a *criminal statute* whose elements compel the defendant to answer official questions disclosing illegal activities or face criminal penalties for failing to make the required disclosures. *See, e.g., Marchetti v. United States*, 390 U.S. 39 (1968) (holding that Fifth Amendment privilege was a

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